*Delivered 8 days late*

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANDREA HICKS JACKSON,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 64,973

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

**FILED**  
SID J. WHITE  
AUG 10 1984  
CLERK SUPREME COURT  
By *[Signature]*  
Chief Deputy Clerk

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT  
OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,  
IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL E. ALLEN  
PUBLIC DEFENDER  
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GLENNA JOYCE REEVES  
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER  
POST OFFICE BOX 671  
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302  
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#### ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS THE INDICTMENT AFTER SHE ESTABLISHED AN UNREBUTTED PRIME FACIE CASE OF DISCRIMINATION AGAINST MEMBERS OF HER RACE AND SEX WITH REGARD TO THE SELECTION OF THE GRAND JURY FOREMEN EMPANELED IN DUVAL COUNTY, THEREBY VIOLATING THE FIFTH, SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

Appellant, a black female, sought to dismiss the grand jury indictment returned against her on the basis that the grand jury foreman selection process had systematically excluded blacks and women (R-116-118). Appellant contends the denial of her motion was erroneous and as a result she has been denied her Sixth Amendment right to a fair-cross-section of the community and her Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment right to a grand jury untainted by invidious discrimination.

In Castaneda v. Partida, 430 U.S. 482, 494 (1977), the Supreme Court summarized the requirements for proving an equal protection violation:

The first step is to establish that the group is one that is a recognizable, distinct class, . . . . Next, the degree of underrepresentation must be proved, by comparing the proportion of the group in the total population to the proportion called to serve as grand jurors, over a significant period of time . . . . Finally, . . . a selection procedure that is susceptible of abuse or is not racially neutral supports the presumption of discrimination raised by the statistical showing.

To rebut such a prima facie case, the government must prove the absence of discriminatory intent. Id. at 497-98. In Duren v. Missouri, 439 U.S. 357, 364 (1979), the elements of a prima facie violation of the fair-cross-section requirement were set out:

[T]he defendant must show (1) that the group alleged to be excluded is a "distinctive" group in the community; (2) that the representation of this group in venires from which juries are selected is not fair and reasonable in relation to the number of such persons in the community; and (3) that this underrepresentation is due to systematic exclusion of the group in the jury-selection process.

In order to rebut such a prima facie case, the government must establish a



significant governmental interest justifying imbalance of classes. Id. at 367-68.

The first part of the prima facie test under Castaneda or Duren is clearly satisfied here because both black persons, Strauder v. West Virginia, 100 U.S. 303 (1879), and women, Taylor v. Louisiana, 419 U.S. 522 (1975), constitute recognizable, distinct classes. The evidence presented by appellant established a significant underrepresentation of both blacks and women as grand jury foremen.<sup>1</sup> The grand jury foremen selection procedure as established by Section 905.08, Florida Statutes (1981) is susceptible of abuse. See Rose v. Mitchell, 443 U.S. 545 (1979). Since appellant has satisfied the three requirements to establish a prima facie case, the burden of proof shifted to the government to rebut the presumption of unconstitutional action. Appellant submits the state failed in this burden.

Appellant is cognizant of this Court's decision in Andrews v. State, 443 So.2d 78 (Fla.1983), where testimony similar to that presented here<sup>2</sup> was found sufficient to rebut the presumption of discrimination. Appellant submits, however, that that conclusion should be reconsidered in light of Guice v. Fortenberry, 722 F.2d 276 (5th Cir. 1984). There, the rebutting evidence

---

1

The statistical data reflected that from 1966 through the spring of 1983 there have been 848 grand jurors with a total of 37 grand jury foremen. Of those 848 grand jurors, 195 or 23% were black. Only 2 of the foremen, or 5.5% were black. Of the total, 378 or 45% were female. Only 1 of the foremen, or 2.7% were female. (R-116). The voter registration list reflected that during this period of time black voters constituted 23%. (R-397). For the time period from 1981 to 1983, women comprised 55% of the registered voters. (R-397). The 1960, 1970 and 1980 census showed women comprised 52% of the population of Duval County. (R-398). The underrepresentation of women as foremen was statistically significant at the .0001 level, one out of 10,000 chance of happening, or a binomial standard deviation of 6.0017. (R-404,408). The underrepresentation of blacks as foremen was significant at the .0256 level or a binomial deviation of 2.5436. (R-410-411). See also (R-460-465).

2

The state presented the testimony of Judges Shepard, Harding, and Richardson. (R-424-476). Each judge denied that selection of the foreman was based upon race or sex. (R-433,451,476). The criteria used included leadership ability, community involvement, and managerial experience. (R-432,451,458, 473).

consisted of the testimony of Judge Adams that he selected as foreman the individual whom he believed to be best qualified for the position, regardless of race. His selection procedure was highly subjective, and for the most part, he relied upon his personal knowledge of the qualifications of potential foremen. There was no indication of any systematic attempt to obtain objective information about the qualifications of members of the grand jury venire. In finding that this testimony was insufficient to overcome the presumption of discrimination, the court distinguishing United States v. Perez-Hernandez, 672 F.2d 1380 (11th Cir. 1982), stated:

The record in this case, unlike Perez, shows that there were no objective criteria or guidelines under which Judge Adams operated in his selection of grand jury foremen. Although his testimony was replete with "affirmations of good faith" in the performance of his duties, it also revealed that his approach to the selection process was necessarily subjective and biased. We believe, as do our colleagues on the Eleventh Circuit, that "testimony from . . . alleged discriminators should be viewed with a great deal of judicial scrutiny." United States v. Perez-Hernandez, 672 F.2d at 1387.

Id. at 281. Here, as well, the rebuttal testimony should be held inadequate. To the extent that Andrews is based upon a conclusion that the Florida grand jury foreman is constitutionally insignificant, appellant seeks reconsideration of that issue for the reasons set forth in the dissents in Andrews and Hobby v. United States, \_\_ U.S. \_\_ (1984)(35 Cr.L. 3185).

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTIONS IN LIMINE AND MOTIONS FOR MISTRIAL AND IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO INTRODUCE EVIDENCE OF A COLLATERAL CRIME FOR WHICH APPELLANT HAD PREVIOUSLY BEEN ACQUITTED IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

At appellant's trial, the state introduced the testimony of Carl Lee, Jr. Mr. Lee, a taxicab driver, had picked up appellant at 4:20 a.m. on May 17th from Shirley Freeman's house for the purpose of taking her to the South-side area or to the bus station. During the ride, appellant had fallen asleep, so Mr. Lee stopped the cab. Mr. Lee then testified as follows:

As a last resort, I went back to the shoulder and nudged again. At that time, she awoke. Her hand went into the crotch of her pants. My reaction was just to grab over and gain control of her hand. I pulled her hand out, and when I did, there was a small caliber handgun in her hand, which I took and forced into the floorboard of the car. After getting the gun into the floorboard of the car, I reached over and opened the door, got the gun out of her hand and threw it out of the car. After that, we got out of the car. I ran and picked up the gun and threw it as far as I possibly could. At that time, she ran towards the gun. I got back into the car, put it in reverse, and was backing up.

(T-1321-1322). Appellant unsuccessfully sought to preclude admission of this testimony since appellant had previously been tried as a result of the gun incident and had been found not guilty. (R-365-371, T-349-381,841-855,1324-1325). Since Mr. Lee's testimony implied the commission of a collateral offense for which appellant had been acquitted, the admission of such testimony was prejudicially erroneous.

In State v. Perkins, 349 So.2d 161 (Fla.1977), this Court reviewed the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Perkins v. State, 332 So.2d 649 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976), which had held that the admission of evidence of crimes for which a defendant has been acquitted is barred from admission into evidence under the guarantee against double jeopardy in the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution. While disagreeing with this holding of the Fourth District, this Court, relying in part upon Wingate

v. Wainwright, 464 F.2d 209 (5th Cir. 1972) and Blackburn v. Cross, 510 F.2d 1014 (5th Cir. 1975), held that notions of fundamental fairness required the exclusion of evidence of acquitted crimes. This Court noted:

We agree with Wingate that it is fundamentally unfair to a defendant to admit evidence of acquitted crimes. To the extent that evidence of the acquitted crime tends to prove that it was indeed committed, the defendant is forced to reestablish a defense against it. Practically, he must do so because of the prejudicial effect the evidence of the acquitted crime will have in the minds of the jury in deciding whether he committed the crime being tried. It is inconsistent with the notions of fair trial for the state to force a defendant to resurrect a prior defense against a crime for which he is not on trial. Therefore, we hold that evidence of crimes for which a defendant has been acquitted is not admissible in a subsequent trial.

State v. Perkins, supra at 163-164. Accord, Albert v. Montgomery, 732 F.2d 865 (11th Cir. 1984); United States v. Keller, 624 F.2d 1154 (3d Cir. 1980); United States v. Mespouledé, 597 F.2d 329 (2d Cir. 1979); State v. Little, 350 P.2d 756 (Ariz. 1960); Asher v. Commonwealth, 324 S.W.2d 824 (Ky. 1959); People v. Milano, 399 N.Y.S. 2d 226 (1977); State v. Holman, 611 S.W.2d 411 (Tenn. 1981); State v. Kerwin, 340 A.2d 45 (Vt. 1975). See also, State v. Wakefield, 278 N.W.2d 307, 308-309 (Minn. 1979), where the Minnesota Supreme Court noted:

The general judicial hostility toward evidence of other crimes is well known and justifiable.

\* \* \*

Restricted categories and procedural safeguards, however, do not eliminate prejudice to the defendant nor free him from the necessity to defend against such evidence. We can find no justification for requiring a defendant to bear these burdens when, as here, he has been tried and acquitted of the other charge. . . . [I]t is a basic tenet of our jurisprudence that once the state has mustered its evidence against a defendant and failed, the matter is done. In the eyes of the law the acquitted defendant is to be treated as innocent and in the interests of fairness and finality made no more to answer for his alleged crime. It is our view that the admission into a trial of evidence of crimes of which the defendant has been acquitted prejudices and burdens the defendant in contravention of this basic principle and is fundamentally unfair. Therefore, we conclude that under no circumstances is evidence of a

crime other than that for which a defendant is on trial admissible when the defendant has been acquitted of that other offense.

[Emphasis supplied].

Under the foregoing cases, Carl Lee's testimony concerning the struggle over the gun should not have been admitted into evidence since appellant had previously been acquitted of these crimes. Appellant must be awarded a new trial.

### ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT REVERSIBLY ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL WHEN TESTIMONY INFERRING PRIOR CRIMINAL CONDUCT ON THE PART OF APPELLANT WAS IMPROPERLY INTRODUCED AT HER TRIAL, THEREBY DEPRIVING HER THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

Florida law has consistently deemed inadmissible evidence tending to show that the accused was arrested, suspected, charged, or convicted of crimes for which the accused was not on trial, the theory being that a jury is bound to be unfairly prejudiced against the accused by reason of their knowledge of the unrelated crime. Marrero v. State, 343 So.2d 883 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977). Accord, Kelly v. State, 371 So.2d 163 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979); Harmon v. State, 394 So.2d 121 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980); Clark v. State, 337 So.2d 858 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976); Whitehead v. State, 279 So.2d 99 (Fla. 2d DCA 1973). This prohibition also stems from the fundamental principle that unless a defendant has first chosen to place his good character in issue, the state is not permitted to attack his character. E.g., Jordan v. State, 171 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1st DCA 1965); Andrews v. State, 172 So.2d 505 (Fla. 1st DCA 1965); Layton v. State, 348 So.2d 1242 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977); Roti v. State, 334 So.2d 146 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976); Perkins v. State, 349 So.2d 776 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977); Albright v. State, 378 So.2d 1234 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979); Wilt v. State, 410 So.2d 924 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); Perez v. State, 434 So.2d 347 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983).

In Mann v. State, 22 Fla. 600, 606-607 (1886), the Supreme Court explained the rationale of this prohibition as follows:

It is a well settled rule of law that the prosecution cannot call witnesses to impeach the character of the defendant unless the defendant put it in issue. Particular acts of his, or commission of other crimes in no way related to the one on trial, cannot be proved against him. Evidence of the bad character of the defendant, as a foundation

upon which to raise the presumption of guilt in the particular case, is not permitted. Every case must be tried on its own merits, and be determined by the circumstances connected with it, without reference to the character of the party charged, or the fact that he may be suspected of having been guilty of committing other crimes than the one charged.

\* \* \*

It is a maxim of our law, that every man is presumed to be innocent until he is proved to be guilty. It is characteristic of the humanity of all the English speaking people that you cannot blacken the character of a party who is on trial for alleged crime. Prisoners ordinarily come before the court and jury under manifest disadvantages....It is quite inconsistent with the fairness of trial to which every man is entitled that the jury should be prejudiced against him by any evidence except what relates to the issue; above all, should it not be permitted to blacken his character to show that he is worthless, to lighten the sense of responsibility which rests upon the jury, by showing that he is not worthy of painstaking and care.

"Those fundamental principles of law laid down in 1886 are as applicable today as they were at the time they were rendered and are necessary to give credence to the constitutional presumption of innocence..." Jordan v. State, supra at 422.

Appellant contends she is constitutionally entitled to a new trial because evidence of other crimes, relevant only to disparage her character and to show propensity to commit crimes, was introduced at her trial, thereby denying her the right to a fair trial as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Panzavecchia v. Wainwright, 658 F.2d 337 (5th Cir. 1981); United States v. Alphonso, 552 F.2d 605 (5th Cir. 1977).

The state presented the testimony of Shirley Ann Freeman. Ms. Freeman testified that in the early morning hours of May 17th, appellant arrived at

her house and told her that she had shot a police officer. (T-1287-1292). Ms. Freeman testified that appellant had stated that she shot the officer because "she wasn't going back to jail." (T-1292). Appellant objected to the improper inference that appellant had been in jail before, requested a mistrial, and requested a curative instruction, all of which were denied. (T-1293-1294). Since the fact that appellant had previously been in jail was not relevant to any issue involved here, and even assuming any relevance, since the prejudicial effect of this testimony outweighed its probative value, Section 90.403, Florida Statutes (1981), the erroneous admission of this prejudicial evidence requires a new trial.

In Bates v. State, 422 So.2d 1033 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), a police officer testified that the victim had told him that the accused had stated to her that he had been in prison before. The court reversed indicating that the state may not impugn the character of an accused unless the accused first puts his character into issue at trial. The court held the defendant's mistrial motion should have been granted and indicated that the error was not cured by the trial judge's curative instruction. In Chapman v. State, 417 So.2d 1028 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), reversal of the defendant's conviction was ordered where witnesses "alluded" to prior crimes committed by the defendant, although such crimes were not specifically identified. In Harris v. State, 427 So.2d 234 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) a police officer testified that the defendant had a "prior felony past." In concluding that the trial court committed reversible error in denying the defendant's motion for mistrial, the court noted that the testimony was "utterly inadmissible" as its sole relevance was to attack the defendant's character or to show his propensity to commit crime. Further, the court noted:



[T]he presentation before a jury of testimony inadmissible, as here,...has generally been considered classic grounds for a mistrial given its usual devastating impact upon a jury.

Id. at 234.

The fact that the reference to prior crimes was in the form of an admission by the defendant does not render the testimony relevant. In Jackson v. State, \_\_ So.2d \_\_ (Fla. 1984) [9 FLW 175], a state witness, Dumas, testified about an occasion when Jackson had pointed a gun at him and boasted of being a "thoroughbred killer" from Detroit. In finding that this testimony was impermissible and prejudicial, this Court noted:

Likewise the "thoroughbred killer" statement may have suggested Jackson had killed in the past, but the boast neither proved the fact, nor was that fact relevant to the case sub judice. The testimony is precisely the kind forbidden by the Williams rule and Section 90.404(2). As the Third District Court of Appeal said in Paul v. State, 340 So.2d 1249, 1250 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976), cert.denied, 348 So.2d 953 (Fla. 1977):

[t]here is no doubt that this admission [to prior unrelated crimes] would go far to convince men of ordinary intelligence that the defendant was probably guilty of the crime charged. But, the criminal law departs from the standard of the ordinary in that it requires proof of a particular crime. Where evidence has no relevancy except as to the character and propensity of the defendant to commit the crime charged, it must be excluded.

Id. at 176. Accord, Dillman v. State, 411 So.2d 964 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982);

Curry v. State, 355 So.2d 462 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978).

The testimony presented here clearly inferred prior criminal conduct on appellant's part and denied her the right to a fair trial. The prejudicial impact of this improper testimony was exacerbated by the prosecutor's repeated references to it in his closing arguments. (T-1590,1612,1613,1647). A new trial must be awarded.

ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTIONS FOR JUDGMENTS OF ACQUITTAL SINCE THE EVIDENCE PRODUCED AT TRIAL WAS INSUFFICIENT TO ESTABLISH MURDER IN THE FIRST DEGREE.

The state's case of first degree murder rested upon alternate theories of either premeditated murder or first degree felony-murder -- a killing in the course of an escape. At the close of the state's case and at the close of all the evidence, appellant moved for a judgment of acquittal asserting insufficient proof of premeditation and insufficient proof of an escape. (T-1383-1397,1412-1416,1418-1419,1422). Appellant's motions were erroneously denied.

A. Felony-Murder -- (Escape).

Section 944.40, Florida Statutes (1981) defines the offense of escape as follows:

Any prisoner confined in any prison, jail, road camp, or other penal institution, state, county, or municipal, working upon the public roads, or being transported to or from a place of confinement who escapes or attempts to escape from such confinement shall be guilty of a felony of the second degree. . . .

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