IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



OCT 31 1984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clark

ANDREA HICKS JACKSON,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 64973

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

HENRI C. CAWTHON ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

TOPICAL

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

- Q. Alright, and how was she acting at this point?
- A. Normal.
- Q. Okay, was she acting polite or -
- A. She was polite.

* * * * *

- Q. What happened next?
- A. Well, at the time, we asked her to provide ownership of the vehicle, and she went and looked in the glove compartment and around the front of the car, front seat of the car. And she didn't find anything. She said, "Well, my bill of sale must be in my apartment."

- Q. During this time, did she have any trouble talking, answering, speaking?
- A. No. No, sir, she was very coherent and polite. She acted like she wanted to cooperate as far as providing us information about the car.

(T-1011-1012). It was only after Appellant was told she was under arrest that she became violent and struggled to avoid being placed in the squad car. (T-948-951). Barring unusual circumstances, the heightened emotion which accompanies a violent resistance to lawful custody cannot support the heat of passion theory.

Appellant cites the case of <u>Forehand v. State</u>, 171 So. 241 (Fla. 1936), as having an analogous fact situation.

In fact, the circumstances were quite different as can be adduced from the following excerpt:

There was much swearing and abusive language and other disorderly conduct, of which the accused was guilty, but it is entirely possible, even probable, that the assault by Pledger [the victim] upon the accused with the blackjack aroused the latter's passion which reached its climax when he beheld his brother on the ground under Pledger, who, to the probably distorted imagination of the accused, was inflicting personal injury upon the brother of the accused.

The accused, having taken from Pledger the pistol which the latter carried in his holster, fired at the two persons upon the ground. The fact that one of these persons was the brother of the accused and was in the danger of being struck by a bullet from the pistol in the hands of the accused seems to us to indicate the presence of a blind and unreasoning passion which momentarily obscured the reason of the accused and displaced any capacity

to form a premeditated design to kill Pledger. The extreme and eminent danger in which Lonnie Forehand was placed when lying upon the ground under Pledger seemed to have had no influence whatsoever upon the momentarily mad and enraged defendant, who in all the evidence, cannot be said to have had any ill feeling or cause of quarrel against his brother.

171 So. at 244. These facts are in no way comparable to those at bar, especially in light of the evidence that Appellant had the mental capacity to set a fatal trap for the victim: when Officer Bevel reacted to her statement about dropping the keys, Appellant, acting quickly, had just enough time to produce the weapon from its place of concealment and fire into the top of his head. Appellant's actions immediately after the killing are also indictive of her presence of mind in that after showering and having her clothes washed and dried (there was blood on her clothes and body) she used a taxicab to effect her escape. Appellee submits that Appellant was thinking clearly before, during, and after the murder of Officer Bevel, and that she formed the intent to kill upon realizing she was returning to jail.

Evidence from which premeditation may be inferred includes such matters as the nature of the weapon used, the presence or absence of adequate provocation, previous difficulties between the parties, the manner in which the homicide was committed, the nature and manner of the wounds

inflicted, previous threats directed at the deceased by the accused, and the actions and demeanor of the latter prior to and subsequent to the alleged homicide. Larry v. State, 104 So.2d 352 (Fla. 1958); Buford v. State, 403 So.2d 943 (Fla. 1981), cert. den., 104 S.Ct. 372 (1982); Preston v. State, 444 So.2d 939 (Fla. 1984). Appellee submits that it was proper for the trial court to allow the jury to determine whether or not the evidence indicated a premeditated design to commit the murder. Larry, supra. The lower court should be affirmed on this issue.

ISSUE V

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON SELF-DEFENSE.

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in giving the jury an instruction on the principles of self-defense because it was not raised as an affirmative defense, thus leading the jury to believe Appellant had failed in proving a defense. This is an unique claim, however, Appellee submits that the facts in proof could have raised in the minds of the jurors the excuse of self-defense. Moreover, Appellant's claim is unsupported by case law and, even if it were, there has been no showing whatsoever of prejudice.

Considering the evidence presented at trial, it would not have been unreasonable for laypersons unfamilar with the law of self-defense to have concluded that Appellant acted in such a manner. There was testimony to the effect that Appellant was being manhandled by Officer Bevel. (T-950). Appellant is 5'5 and weighed 123 lbs. at the time, while Officer Bevel was 5'11 and weighed 210 lbs. Witnesses to the shooting testified that during the struggle to place Appellant in the squad car she said "You're hurting me," and "You made me bump my head." (T-1051, 1075). While Appellant was washing and drying her clothes Shirley Freeman notice scratches and welts on Appellant's back. (T-1305-1306).

Appellee submits that because of this evidence of pain suffered by Appellant it was proper for the jury to be instructed on self-defense to avoid their creation of a maverick brand of justifiable homicide. Furthermore, the case law cited by Appellant is unconvincing because of dissimilar fact situations. In Hopson v. State, So. 810 (Fla. 1936), the trial court mistakenly told the jury that the accused had invoked the defense of selfdefense for the shooting of his wife even though he had actually claimed the shooting was accidental and unintentional. 168 So.2d at 811. In the case at bar, the trial judge never told the jury Appellant was claiming self-defense. fact, it was incumbent upon the court to further explain the Justifiable Homicide instruction which had been requested by Appellant. (T-1429-1430, 1469). Appellee submits that Appellant did not want the self-defense instruction because it precluded the jury from seriously considering such a theory in light of the facts.

The other cases cited by Appellant are also inapplicable.

Johnson v. State, 46 So. 154 (Fla. 1908), deals with a

prosecutor's remarks concerning an alibi defense which was

never raised by the accused, while in <u>Bayshore v. State</u>,

437 So.2d 198 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983), the prosecutor introduced

statements made to a police officer by the defendant in

order to imply an alibi defense which was later discredited.

Neither of these cases deal with an instruction by the trial court. Moreover, the evidence that a struggle had occurred and that Appellant was hurt physically was elicited from eye-witnesses, not from Appellant.

Finally, even if this Court finds the self-defense instruction to have been unnecessary, there has been no showing of undue prejudice in light of the overwhelming evidence of first degree murder. Because the trial court was merely explaining the Justifiable Homicide instruction requested by Appellant, this claim should be dismissed.

ISSUE VI

THE PROSECUTOR'S ARGUMENTS DID NOT DEPRIVE APPELLANT OF HER RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

Appellant argues that statements made by the prosecution during closing argument at both the guilt and penalty phases of the trial were improper and unduly prejudiced her case.

Appellee submits that the arguments complained of were not improper when considered in light of all of the proceedings, and that even if this Court were to conclude otherwise,

Appellant has failed to demonstrate reversible error in light of the overwhelming evidence of first degree murder.

In <u>Blair v. State</u>, 406 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1981), this Court upheld the well settled standard that inflammatory statements made by the prosecution will only be grounds for reversal if they were of such a nature so as to poison the mind of the jurors or to prejudice them so that a fair and impartial verdict could not be rendered. 406 So.2d at 1107, quoting <u>Oliva v. State</u>, 346 So.2d 1066, 1068-1069 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1977), <u>cert. den.</u>, 434 U.S. 1010, 98 S.Ct. 719, 54 L.Ed.2d 752 (1978). The decision also noted that the comments complained of:

... Did not 'materially contribute to this conviction,' Zamot v. State, 375 So.2d 881, 883 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979)

were not 'so harmful or fundamentally tainted so as to require a new trial,' Smith v. State, 354 So.2d 477, 478 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1978); and were not so inflammatory that they 'might have influenced the jury to reach a more severe verdict of guilt than it would have otherwise...' Darden v. State, 329 So.2d 287, 289 (Fla. 1976), cert. dismissed, 430 U.S. 704, 97 S.Ct. 1671, 51 L.Ed.2d 751 (1977).

406 So.2d at 1107. This Court further stated:

As we noted in Paramore v. State, 229 So.2d 855, 860 (Fla. 1969), modified, 408 U.S. 935, 92 S.Ct. 2857, 33 L.Ed.2d 751 (1972), 'it will not be presumed that... [jurors] are led astray, to wrongful verdicts, by the impassioned eloquence and illogical pathos of counsel.'

406 So.2d at 1107.

In a more recent ruling this Court noted:

[P]rosecutorial error alone does not warrant automatic reversal of a conviction unless the errors involved are so basic to a fair trial that they can never be treated as harmless. The correct standard of appellate review is whether 'the error committed was so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial.' [Cobb v. State, 376 So.2d 230 (Fla. 1979)]. The appropriate test for whether the error is prejudicial is the 'harmeless error' rule set forth in Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967), and its progeny. We agree with the recent analysis of the court in United States v. Hastings, U.S. ___, 103 S.Ct. 1974, 76 L.Ed.2d 96 (1983). The supervisory power of the appellate court to reverse a conviction is inappropriate as a remedy when the error is harmless; prosecutorial misconduct or indifference to judicial admonitions is the proper subject of bar disciplinary actions. Reversal of the conviction is a separate matter; it is the duty

of appellate courts to consider the record as a whole and to ignore harmless error, including most constitutional violations.

State v. Murray, 443 So.2d 955, 956 (Fla. 1984). Generally, a prosecutor is given considerable latitude in presenting arguments on the merits of a case, and logical inferences from the evidence are permissible. As stated by this Court:

Their discussion of the evidence, so long as they remain within the limits of the record, is not to be condemned merely because they appeal to the jury to 'perform their public duty' by bringing in a verdict of guilty.

Spencer v. State, 133 So.2d 729 (Fla. 1961), cert. den., 82 S.Ct. 1155 (1962). Moreover, the alleged improper comments must be considered in the context in which they were made, White v. State, 415 So.2d 719 (Fla. 1982), cert. den., 103 S.Ct. 1 (1983), and each case must be considered upon its own merits and within the circumstances pertaining when the questionable statements are made. Darden v. State, 329 So.2d 287 (Fla. 1976), cert. dismissed, 97 S.Ct. 1671 (1977). Appellee submits that while certain statements made by the prosecution might be considered improper when taken out of context, the trial judge is in the best position to determine whether a new trial should be granted under the circumstances. Paramore v. State, 229 So.2d 855 (Fla. 1969) modified, 92 S.Ct. 2857 (1972).

More importantly, Appellant fails to show how the alleged prosecutorial misconduct has rendered the trial fundamentally unfair in light of the overwhelming evidence of premeditated murder. Blair, supra; Murray, supra. Appellee would also assert that the jury returned a recommendation for the death penalty, in spite of the alleged prejudicial comments, because of the three aggravating factors and the lack of a significant mitigating factor.

Thus, Appellant has failed to demonstrate that the trial court committed reversible error in denying her motions for mistrial. This Court should affirm the lower court's rulings because the verdict and sentence are supported by the record.

ISSUE VII

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ALLOWED INTO EVIDENCE THE TESTIMONY OF SHERIFF CARSON AS BEING RELEVANT TO THE DETERMINATION OF APPELLANT'S PENALTY.

It is Appellant's argument that Sheriff Dale Carson's testimony concerning the hinderance of local law enforcement as a result of Officer Bevel's murder should have been excluded from the guilt phase of the trial because it failed to demonstrate that Appellant intended to hinder law enforcement. Appellee would suggest that Appellant's motive had been determined during the guilt phase of the trial and that Sheriff Carson's testimony was relevant as evidence of whether or not a disruption of law enforcement had actually occurred.

In <u>Tafero v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 355 (Fla. 1981), <u>cert</u>.

<u>den</u>., 455 U.S. 983, 71 L.Ed.2d 694, 102 S.Ct. 1492 (1982),

this Court ruled that a single set of circumstances, such

as the premeditated murder of a law enforcement officer,

may support two aggravating factors for purposes of sentencing,

to wit: that the homicide was committed for the purpose of

avoiding a lawful arrest and that it was committed to disrupt

or hinder law enforcement. There, the defendant and a

companion were asked by two highway patrolmen to exit their

car because one of the patrolmen had spotted a hand gun in the car. A struggle ensued and the defendant, a parolee at the time, shot and killed the two officers before taking their car for purposes of escape. This Court found the following aggravating factors to be justified:

- 4. The Murders were committed by MR. TAFERO for the purpose of avoiding or preventing lawful arrest or effecting an escape from custody. Evidence presented to this Court indicated beyond any reasonable doubt that MR. TAFERO was on parole and he had indicated to his friends that he would never again go back to prison and that this desire to avoid any future imprisonment was one of the reasons that MR. TAFERO was personally armed with an automatic pistol on most occassions.
- 5. The Murders were committed to hinder the lawful enforcement of the laws of this State.
 The victims of these murders, two law enforcement officers, were attempting to enforce
 the laws of this State after discovering
 various firearms and various types of drugs
 and controlled substances in the automobile
 in which the Defendant was a passenger.

403 So.2d at 362. Thus, the motive for the escape and resulting disruption of law enforcement had been established earlier and was a proper factor for sentencing purposes. Likewise, in the case at bar, it was unnecessary at the penalty phase for the prosecution to establish Appellant's intent to hinder law enforcement when the motive for the killing had already been established.

The sole purpose for the introduction of Sheriff Carson's testimony was to demonstrate the extent of the disruption and hinderance of law enforcement in Duval County resulting from the murder of a police officer.

The expert testimony enabled the jurors to better understand how this particular homicide, as opposed to the killing of a private citizen, affected the community as a whole.

Thus, when Sheriff Carson's testimony was considered in conjunction with the finding that Officer Bevel was killed with premeditation, the aggravating factor in issue was properly established. The lower court should be affirmed. Tafero, supra.

ISSUE VIII

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY RESTRICTED THE SCOPE OF THE MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES.

Appellant argues that mitigating factors were impermissibly restricted through comments of the prosecutor during voir dire and by the trial court's refusal to allow into evidence the testimony of a member of the victim's family during the penalty phase of the hearing. Appellee contends that these claims are meritless.

During voir dire the prosecution made the following statement:

[MR. STETSON:]

Alright, and another important question, you'll be asked to apply the law, the judge will tell you to apply the law of this case. He'll tell you what that law is. And he'll tell you it's yourduty, you have to follow the law of the case. And as I've mentioned, the defendant is a woman, will the fact that she's a woman have any influence upon your determination, keeping in mind that the State will be seeking the death penalty in this case? If anyone feels that that might influence this verdict, please raise your hand now.

There's nothing wrong with feeling like that, but I need to know about that now.

Alright, so, in other words, the judge is not going to tell you that it's a mitigating factor that she's a woman, it has nothing to do with it.

MR. WHITE: Your Honor, I object to that.

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